
______________ 

______________ 

The Supreme Court of South Carolina 

RE: Extension Requests in Criminal Direct Appeals 

and Post-Conviction Relief Certiorari Proceedings 


ORDER 

This Court finds that it is appropriate to establish a uniform 

policy for processing extension requests by counsel in criminal direct appeals 

and post-conviction relief (PCR) certiorari proceedings.  Accordingly, the 

following procedures shall apply when an extension is requested in these 

cases at both this Court and the South Carolina Court of Appeals in both 

capital and non-capital cases. 

(1) One extension of up to thirty (30) days each may be 

granted for any stage of the appellate proceeding without a showing of good 

cause. 

(2) A second extension request may be granted upon a 

showing of good cause. The facts supporting good cause shall be set forth in 

the motion.  The signature of the attorney on the motion shall be a 
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certification that the attorney believes that the extension is warranted and that 


there is good cause to seek the extension. 

(3) A third extension may be granted upon a showing of good 

cause.  The facts supporting the good cause shall be set forth in the motion. 

If filed by the Division of Appellate Defense or the Office of the Attorney 

General, the motion shall be signed by the attorney involved and his or her 

immediate supervisor.  If filed by a private lawyer, the motion shall be signed 

by the attorney involved and, if lawyer is not a sole practitioner, by another 

member of the firm.  The signatures on the motion shall be a certification by 

these attorneys that they believe that the extension is warranted and that there 

is good cause to seek the extension. 

(4) A fourth or subsequent extension may be granted upon a 

showing of extraordinary circumstances.  The motion must contain sufficient 

facts to show that there are extraordinary circumstances that warrant the 

extension, and must state what actions are being taken to insure that no 

further extension will be required.  If filed by the Division of Appellate 

Defense, the motion shall be signed by the attorney involved, and the 

Executive Director of the Office of Indigent Defense or his or her chief 
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deputy.  If filed by the Office of the Attorney General, the motion shall be 


signed by the attorney involved, and the Attorney General or his or her chief 

deputy. If filed by a private lawyer, the motion shall be signed by the 

attorney involved and, if lawyer is not a sole practitioner, by the senior 

partner or the next most senior partner in the firm. The signatures on the 

motion shall be a certification by these attorneys that they believe that the 

extension is warranted and that extraordinary circumstances are present. 

(5) Counsel are expected to minimize extension requests, and 

multiple extensions should generally be sought only for a stage of the 

appellate proceeding which involves research or writing by the attorney, such 

as the preparation of a brief or the preparation of the petition for a writ of 

certiorari, return or reply in a PCR case. 

(6) Nothing in this order shall be construed as preventing the 

Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals from further restricting extensions in 

an individual case when warranted, including cases which may be expedited. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

s/ Jean H. Toal C.J. 

s/ John H. Waller, Jr. J. 
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s/ Costa M. Pleicones J. 


s/ Donald W. Beatty J. 

s/ John W. Kittredge J. 

Columbia, South Carolina 
March 18, 2009 
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_________ 

_________ 

The Supreme Court of South Carolina 

In the Matter of Joseph Vincent 

Manders, Jr., Petitioner. 


ORDER 

The records in the office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court show that 

on March 14, 2001, Petitioner was admitted and enrolled as a member of the 

Bar of this State. 

By way of a letter addressed to the Clerk of the Supreme Court of 

South Carolina, dated February 19, 2009, Petitioner submitted his resignation 

from the South Carolina Bar. We accept Petitioner's resignation. 

Petitioner shall, within fifteen (15) days of the issuance of this order, 

deliver to the Clerk of the Supreme Court his certificate to practice law in this 

State. 
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In addition, Petitioner shall promptly notify, or cause to be notified, by 

certified mail, return receipt requested, all clients currently being represented 

in pending matters in this State, of his resignation. 

Petitioner shall file an affidavit with the Clerk of the Supreme Court, 

within fifteen (15) days of the issuance of this order, showing that he has 

fully complied with the provisions of this order. The resignation of Joseph 

Vincent Manders, Jr. shall be effective upon full compliance with this order. 

His name shall be removed from the roll of attorneys. 

s/ Jean H. Toal C.J. 

s/ John H. Waller, Jr. J. 

s/ Costa M. Pleicones J. 

s/ Donald W. Beatty J. 

s/ John W. Kittredge J. 

Columbia, South Carolina 

March 19, 2009 
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_________ 

_________ 

The Supreme Court of South Carolina 

In the Matter of Thomas 

Everett Wright, Petitioner. 


ORDER 

The records in the office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court show that 

on September 23, 1993, Petitioner was admitted and enrolled as a member of 

the Bar of this State. 

By way of a letter addressed to South Carolina Supreme Court, dated 

January 28, 2009, Petitioner submitted his resignation from the South 

Carolina Bar. We accept Petitioner's resignation. 

Petitioner shall, within fifteen (15) days of the issuance of this order, 

deliver to the Clerk of the Supreme Court his certificate to practice law in this 

State. 

In addition, Petitioner shall promptly notify, or cause to be notified, by 

certified mail, return receipt requested, all clients currently being represented 

in pending matters in this State, of his resignation. 
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Petitioner shall file an affidavit with the Clerk of the Supreme Court, 

within fifteen (15) days of the issuance of this order, showing that he has 

fully complied with the provisions of this order. The resignation of Thomas 

Everett Wright shall be effective upon full compliance with this order. His 

name shall be removed from the roll of attorneys. 

s/ Jean H. Toal C.J. 

s/ John H. Waller, Jr. J. 

s/ Costa M. Pleicones J. 

s/ Donald W. Beatty J. 

s/ John W. Kittredge J. 

Columbia, South Carolina 

March 19, 2009 
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________ 

________ 

The Supreme Court of South Carolina 

In re: Amendments to the Lawyers’ Fund for Client 

Protection of the South Carolina Bar Rules of Procedure 


O R D E R 

In accordance with Rule 411(c)(2), South Carolina Appellate 

Court Rules, the South Carolina Bar has proposed a number of amendments 

to the Lawyers’ Fund for Client Protection of the South Carolina Bar Rules of 

Procedure. The amendments seek to expedite claims by providing specific 

deadlines for processing claims. The amendments also include a new section 

governing confidentiality of applications, proceedings, and reports. 

We grant the Bar’s petition to amend the Lawyers’ Fund for 

Client Protection of the South Carolina Bar Rules of Procedure, as set forth in 

the attachment to this Order. These amendments shall be effective 

immediately.   

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

s/ Jean H. Toal C.J. 

s/ John H. Waller, Jr. J. 

s/ Costa M. Pleicones J. 
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s/ Donald W. Beatty J. 

s/ John W. Kittredge J. 

Columbia, South Carolina 

March 20, 2009 
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LAWYERS’ FUND FOR CLIENT PROTECTION 

OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA BAR
 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 


. . .
 

SECTION II. APPLICATION FOR REIMBURSEMENT 


. . . 

6. 	 If the lawyer is a member in good standing of the South Carolina Bar, the 
applicant’s cooperation in grievance proceedings against such lawyer shall 
be a prerequisite to the granting of relief to such applicant from the Fund. 
The Committee may require that a claimant prosecute or cooperate in 
appropriate civil proceedings against the accused lawyer as a prerequisite 
to the granting of relief to such applicant from the Fund. 

SECTION III. PROCESSING APPLICATION 

1. 	 The Committee shall cause reasonable investigation of any applications 
coming to its attention, either by applications for reimbursement or by 
certification from the Commission on Lawyer Conduct, its agents, or the 
Board of Governors of the South Carolina Bar. 

2. 	 The Chair of the Committee shall cause each such application to be sent to 
a member of the Committee or other member of the South Carolina Bar 
for investigation and report. A copy of the application shall be served 
upon or sent by registered mail to the last known address of the lawyer 
who it is claimed committed the dishonest act.  Whenever possible, the 
application will be referred to a member of the Committee or member of 
the South Carolina Bar who practices in the Judicial Circuit wherein the 
alleged defalcating lawyer practiced. 

3. 	 When, in the opinion of the member to whom application has been 
referred, the application is clearly not for a reimbursable loss, no further 
investigation need be conducted. A report with respect to such application 
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shall be made as hereinafter specified by the member to whom the 
application was referred. 

4. 	 A member to whom a report is referred for investigation shall conduct 
such investigation in such manner as deemed necessary and desirable to 
determine whether the application is for a reimbursable loss and to guide 
the Committee in determining the extent, if any, to which the application 
shall be paid from the Fund. 

5. 	 Any information obtained by the member from the files of the 
Commission on Lawyer Conduct shall be used solely by or for the 
Lawyers’ Fund for Client Protection Committee; but otherwise shall 
constitute confidential information. 

6. 	 Reports with respect to applications shall be submitted by the members to 
whom they have been referred for investigation to the Committee Liaison 
within ninety days. 

7.	 The Committee Liaison shall submit reports with respect to applications to 
the Chair of the Committee and to the members of the Committee within 
ten working days of their receipt. 

8.	 After considering the reports on applications to be processed, a Committee 
member may request that testimony be presented. Absent such 
recommendation or request, applications shall be processed on the basis of 
information contained in the report of the member who investigated such 
applications.  In all cases, the alleged defalcating lawyer or a personal 
representative will be given an opportunity to be heard by the Committee 
if he or she so requests. The “fact” of dishonest conduct is usually 
determined by the Commission on Lawyer Conduct or a civil or criminal 
court; not by the Lawyers’ Fund for Client Protection Committee. 

9. 	 The Committee shall, in its discretion, determine the amount of loss, if 
any, for which any client shall be reimbursed from the Fund.  In making 
such determination, the Committee shall consider, inter alia, the 
following: 
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(a) 	 Any conduct of the client which contributed to the loss. 
(b) 	 The comparative hardship which the client suffered because of the 

loss. 
(c) 	 The total amount of reimbursable losses of the clients of any one 

lawyer or association of lawyers. 
(d) 	 The total amount of reimbursable losses in previous years for which 

the total reimbursement has not been made and the total assets of 
the Fund. 

(e) 	 The total amount of insurance or other source of funds available to 
compensate the client for the loss. 

(f) 	 The Committee may, in its discretion, allow further reimbursement 
in any year of a reimbursable loss allowed by it in prior years with 
respect to a loss which has not been fully reimbursed; provided such 
further reimbursement would not be inconsistent or in conflict with 
any previous determination with respect to such a loss. 

(g) 	 No reimbursement shall be made to any client, a report of whose 
application has not been submitted to the Committee, except as 
provided below. No reimbursement shall be made to any client 
unless said reimbursement is approved by a majority vote of the 
Committee at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present, 
except as provided below. 

Small claims may be authorized by the Chair of the Committee and 
paid without a meeting of the Committee upon compliance with the 
following procedure: 

(i) 	 The application is for reimbursement in an amount of $1,000 
or less; 

(ii) 	 The investigating member has represented that all elements 
justifying reimbursement under these rules have been 
satisfied; and 

(iii) 	 The members of the Committee are provided a copy of the 
client’s application and the investigating member’s report, a 
majority of members approve such reimbursement, and 
approvals are filed with the records of the Committee. 
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10. 	 An applicant may be advised of the status of the Committee’s 
consideration of his application and shall be advised of the final 
determination of the Committee. 

11. 	 All participants in the application, investigation or proceeding (including 
the applicant) shall conduct themselves so as to maintain the 
confidentiality of the application, investigation or proceedings.  This 
provision shall not be construed to deny relevant information to the 
Commission on Lawyer Conduct or authorized agencies investigating 
qualifications for governmental employment, or to prohibit the release of 
statistical information which does not disclose the identity of the parties. 
If requested, any information from the files of the Lawyers’ Fund for 
Client Protection may be provided to law enforcement and the 
Commission on Lawyer Conduct. 

. . . 

Section VII. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

No publicity shall be given to applications for reimbursement until payment is 
approved; thereafter, publicity shall be within the discretion of the Committee 
subject to the provisions of Section III. 

These Rules may be changed at any time by the majority vote of the Committee 
subject to the approval of the Board of Governors of the South Carolina Bar and 
provided such change is not inconsistent with the Rule of the Supreme Court of 
South Carolina establishing the Lawyers’ Fund for Client Protection.  Members 
of the Committee, investigating members and Bar staff shall be immune from 
liability and suit while acting within the scope of their duties under this Rule or 
any rules which may be promulgated by the Committee. 

Section VIII. CONFIDENTIALITY 

The Committee, pursuant to Rule 411(c)(4), memorializes a Rule regarding the 
confidentiality of applications, proceedings and reports. Unless otherwise 
directed by the lawyer that the matter be made public pursuant to the Rule, this 
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Rule shall apply. 

1. 	 Upon filing of an application pursuant to Rule 411, the lawyer whose 
alleged conduct predicates the application shall be provided a copy of that 
application. The copy shall be sent to the address of the lawyer on the Bar 
member register, unless another address is known. 

2.	 The cover letter forwarding the application to the lawyer will also identify 
the investigator assigned to the matter and invite that lawyer to contact the 
investigator should he or she deem it necessary.  The investigator is under 
no obligation to contact the lawyer. 

3. 	 During the course of investigation, individual investigators gather 
information and prepare reports for the Committee to consider.  The 
reports submitted by the individual investigator provide background and 
make a recommendation, although the recommendation is not binding 
upon the Committee. The reports are intended to provide as much 
information as possible so that the Committee can have a full and frank 
deliberation. All file materials, other than the application and the 
Committee’s decision, are deemed confidential work product and shall not 
be produced. 

4. 	 Nothing contained herein shall be construed to deny access to relevant 
information to appropriate authorized agencies as authorized by the 
Committee’s Rules of Procedure.  To that extent, information regarding 
obligations of lawyers to the Fund may be shared with appropriate 
authorities determining the feasibility of reinstating the lawyer to the 
practice of law. The deliberations and reasoning for the award amounts 
will not be shared with those agencies absent a case-by-case approval by 
the Committee. 

5. 	 Civil subpoenas will be honored as to specific matter, but work product 
produced in the course of an investigation shall not be produced. 
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The Supreme Court of South Carolina 


RE: Lawyers Suspended by the South Carolina Bar 

          The South Carolina Bar has furnished the attached list of lawyers 

who have been administratively suspended from the practice of law 

pursuant to Rule 419(b)(1), SCACR, since February 1, 2009.  This list 

is being published pursuant to Rule 419(d)(1), SCACR. If these 

lawyers are not reinstated by the South Carolina Bar by April 1, 2009, 

they will be suspended by order of the Supreme Court and will be 

required to surrender their certificates to practice law in South Carolina.  

Rule 419(e)(1), SCACR. 

Columbia South Carolina 
March 23, 2009 
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Attorneys Suspended for Nonpayment of 2009 License Fees 
As of March 1, 2009 

Todd R. Amacher 

4502 Scenic Dr. 

Rowlett, TX 75088-6877 


David P. Bains 

2504 Squaw Crk. 

Clermont, FL  34711-6789 


Magalie P. Boyer 

502 Spring Forest 

Central, SC 29630 


Mark E. Carlson
 
Andresen & Arronte, PLLC 

2319 Crescent Ave 

Charlotte, NC 28207-1501 


John E. Carter 

14125 Monticastillo Place 

Charlotte, NC 28278 


Terry Lance Carter 

100 Main Ave., N, Ste. 2A 

Fayetteville, TN 37334-3084 


Renee A. Cobb 

462 Mock Mill Rd.
 
Statesville, NC 28677 


Connor Cogswell 

564 Forbes Avenue, Ste. 1220 

Pittsburgh, PA  15219-2903 


Larry Colleton 
Colleton Law Firm, PA 
P.O. Box 677459 

Orlando, FL 32867-7459 


Michael J. Denning 
Wright Express Corp. 
97 Darling Ave. 
South Portland, ME 04106 

Jessica L. Dixon-Ramakrishna 

2025 Kegsworth Dr. 

Charlotte, NC 28273 


Kenneth S. Drury 

414 W. Vista Bonita St. 

Azusa, CA 91702 


John S. Egan 

Frost Brown Todd 

400 W. Market St., 32nd Floor 

Louisville, KY 40202-3363 


Paul W. Fountain 

Rhodes Law Firm, P.C. 

1450 Greene Street, Suite 105 

Augusta, GA 30901 


William Gardner
 
Tharpe & Howell 

15250 Ventura Blvd. 

Sherman Oaks, CA  91403 


Kimberly M. Gladney 

330 W 58th St, Apt 9J 

New York, NY 10019-1832 


Billy R. Godwin Jr.
 
406 W. Broad St. 

Dunn, NC 28334 


John Woodrow Holt IV 

1520 American Dr., Ste. C 

Florence, SC 29505 


Eric P. Kelley 
Law Office of Patrick J.T. Kelley 
P.O. Box 773 

Bluffton, SC 29910 


Ben R. King 

PO Box 571828 

Houston, TX 77257-1828 
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Stancel E. Kirkland 
Kirkland Law Firm 
321 Trenton Ln 
Yemassee, SC 29945-4125 

Robert J. Klug Sr. 
Brent Coon & Associates 
Two Penn Center 
1500 JFK Blvd, Ste 1301 
Philadelphia, PA 19102-1721 

Pete A. Lang 
111 Clebourne St 
Fort Mill, SC 29715-1758 

Christine Latona 
Campbell & Associates, P.A. 
717 East Boulevard 
Charlotte, NC 28203 

Annick I. Lenoir-Peek 
10650 Culebra Rd., #104-547 
San Antonio, TX 78251 

David M. Luna 
5806 Kingswood Rd. 
Bethesda, MD 20814-1820 

Matthew B. Macdonald 
209 N. Locksley Dr. 
Lafayette, LA  70508-4019 

William M. Maloof Jr 
Maloof & Hendrick, LLC 
215 N. McDonough St. 
Atlanta, GA 30030 

Pamela S. McAvoy 
4736 Island View Dr. 
Oshkosh, WI 54901-1305 

Louis S. Moore 
1317 Walker Ave. 
East Point, GA 30344 

Terry T. Moyer 
Milliken Research Corp. 
P.O. Box 1927 (M-495) 
Spartanburg, SC 29304 

Kenneth E. Nowell 
401 48th St. 
Vienna, WV 26105 

Thomas B. Pollard Jr. 
900 Taylor Street, #105 
Columbia, SC  29201 

James W. Preacher 
13014 Whisper Sound Dr. 
Tampa, FL  33624 

Mitzi A. Presnell 
2500 Cloister Dr. 
Charlotte, NC 28211 

Bradford A. Rawlinson 
1080 W Oak Dr 
Rock Hill, SC 29732-8095 

James W. Rion 
Office of Research & Statistics 
1000 Assembly St. 
Rembert Dennis Bldg. 
Columbia, SC  29201 

Patricia C. Rivers 
Chesterfield County Public Defen 
200 W. Main St., 2nd Floor 
Chesterfield, SC 29709 

Tracey M. Roberts 
240 Mercer St., Apt. ME-0603A 
New York, NY 10012-1558 

Edmund H. Robinson 
68 Clinton Ave. 
Staten Island, NY 10301 

Charles T. Roy Jr. 
39 McDaniel Ct. 
Greenville, SC 29605 

Steven M. Rubinstein 
1565 Sam Rittenberg Blvd. 
Charleston, SC 29407 

18
 



Laura Rummans 

Ruden McClosky Smith Schuster & 

222 Lakeview Ave., Ste. 800 

W. Palm Beach, FL  33401 


Sheryl S. Schelin 
730 Main St. #358 
N. Myrtle Beach, SC  29582 


Timothy D. Scrantom 
Ten State International Law, PLL 
3 Field Ct. 
Gray's Inn  London WC1R 5EF 
United Kingdom 

Scott E. Shealy 
Citizen's Fuel Co. 
P.O. Box 2805 

Asheville, NC 28802 


Howard R. Smith 

3231 Sunset Blvd Ste D 

West Columbia, SC 29169 


M. G. Smythe 

4006 Sunnybrook Dr. 

Nashville, TN 37205 


Albert M. Sparrow Jr.
 
306 Main St. 

Greenwood, SC 29646 


Sara B. Stewart 

2699 Trotter Rd. 

Florence, SC  29501-1972 


Randall S. Strause 

Hectus & Strause, PLLC 

804 Stone Creek Pkwy., Ste. 1 

Louisville, KY 40223-5361 


Christine B. Stump
 
CLO, Mountaintop Dev., LLC 

295 Seven Farms Dr. Ste. C-138 

Charleston, SC 29492 


Janis N. Taylor 

835 Jenks Ave. 

Panama City, FL  32401-2531 


John S. Tracy 

Tracy Law Firm, PA 

1511 Prosperity Farms Rd. 

Lake Park, FL 33403 


Michael W. Tye 

AT&T 

2000 W. AT&T Center Dr.   2A82 

Hoffman Estates, IL  60192 


Nicholas H. Van Slyck 
PMB140 
1357 Ashford Ave. 
San Juan, PR 00907 

Ahmad S. Washington 

Mann Bracken, LLC 

227 W. Trade Street, Ste.1610 

Charlotte, NC 28202 


Damon C. Watson 

Fattoc, LLC 

345 N. Maple Dr., Ste. 209 

Beverly Hills, CA 90210 


Jennifer E. Wells 
District Attorney's Office 
P.O. Box 1029 

Smithfield, NC  27577 


David H. Wersan 

1413 Pelham Road 

Harrisburg, PA 17110-3023 


Wyatt B. Willoughby 
P.O. Box 14369 

Myrtle Beach, SC 29587-4369 


Margaret Wolfe 

2117 East Lane 

Camden, SC  29020-2012 


Douglas R. Wright 
P.O. Box 840 

Tupper Lake, NY 12986 
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IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

In The Supreme Court 


In the Matter of James W. 
Fayssoux, Respondent. 

Opinion No. 26617 
Submitted February 6, 2009 – Filed March 23, 2009    

PUBLIC REPRIMAND 

Lesley M. Coggiola, Disciplinary Counsel, of Columbia, for 
Office of Disciplinary Counsel. 

James W. Fayssoux, of Greenville, pro se. 

PER CURIAM:   In this attorney disciplinary matter, 
respondent and the Office of Disciplinary Counsel (ODC) have entered 
into an Agreement for Discipline by Consent pursuant to Rule 21, 
RLDE, Rule 413, SCACR. In the Agreement, respondent admits 
misconduct and consents to the imposition of an admonition, a public 
reprimand, or the imposition of a definite suspension not to exceed 
sixty (60) days. We accept the Agreement and impose a public 
reprimand. The facts, as set forth in the Agreement, are as follows.   

FACTS 

Respondent self-reported to ODC that he, along with 
several other lawyers, numerous non-lawyers, and several business 
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entities had been named as defendants in civil litigation initiated by a 
lender. Respondent’s errors and omissions carrier settled the litigation 
by paying damages in an agreed amount of $35,000 to the lender. 

It is now known that, as a result of a federal investigation, 
James Byrd, Eric Byrd, and their related business associates and/or 
entities entered into schemes to acquire and then sell real estate at 
inflated values to the detriment of the purchasers and to a lender who 
made loans to those purchasers. Due to those schemes, the lender made 
loans to persons it would not have otherwise approved. Further, the 
lender made loans contrary to its policies and procedures and in 
amounts in excess of its lending policies and procedures which it had in 
place to promote timely repayment and to prevent default upon its loans 
secured by real estate mortgages. Subsequently, both the Byrds and 
others were indicted and sentenced to terms in federal prison for wire, 
mail, and/or bank fraud. 

Respondent represents that he was unaware of any criminal 
activity in connection with any of the real estate transactions he 
handled that were arranged by the Byrds.  ODC does not dispute this 
representation. Further, respondent represents that he does not believe 
that his activities constituted criminal acts and ODC does not dispute 
this representation.1 

However, twenty-eight (28) real estate closings which were 
handled by respondent as arranged by one or both of the Byrds revealed 
irregularities that ODC contends constitute lawyer misconduct on the 
part of respondent. With the advantage of information revealed by 
hindsight and the investigation by the federal authorities and ODC, 
respondent agrees with ODC’s contention. 

In one transaction, respondent wrote a check on his trust 
account payable to Vision Enterprises, an entity known by respondent 

1 Respondent was not charged with any criminal activity in 
connection with the transactions reported in this opinion and neither 
respondent nor ODC expect any charges to be filed in the future. 
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to be owned and/or controlled by one or more of the Byrds. The check 
was for the exact amount due to the seller Eric Byrd on a related HUD-
1 Settlement Statement prepared by respondent.  As a result, the 
information furnished to the borrower and lender on the HUD-1 
contained incorrect information. 

In another transaction, Vision Enterprises placed an 
$18,000 mechanics lien against real property acquired by James Byrd 
who then sold the same property the next day, paying the mechanics 
lien out of the proceeds of that sale. Respondent prepared the closing 
papers and made the disbursements. It is now recognized that Byrd, 
through his colleague’s placement of the mechanics lien, actually 
placed the mechanics lien against himself and then paid it out of the 
proceeds of the sale to a borrower and a loan made by the lender, even 
though little or no repairs were made to the property. ODC contends 
respondent should have recognized this was a sham mechanics lien 
because it was placed on property by an entity or person known to 
respondent to be a Byrd confidant the very day before Byrd and/or a 
Byrd-controlled entity sold the property. 

In several other Byrd-arranged closings, the HUD-1s 
prepared by or at the direction of respondent showed money being 
withheld for repairs. It is now known that little, if any, such repairs 
warranting the amount withheld were actually made. Respondent 
withheld the funds and paid them over to one or more of the Byrds 
and/or one or more entities controlled by or having a very close 
working relationship with the Byrds. In retrospect, respondent now 
recognizes that, as a result, both borrowers and lenders were acquiring 
interest in real property at inflated values and/or there was greater 
consideration begin received by the seller than reflected on the 
corresponding HUD-1s prepared by respondent. 

In three other transactions, respondent’s firm’s pension and 
profit sharing plan provided loans in Byrd-arranged transactions (and 
then sold those properties for a profit). By participating in the 
transactions, respondent had business dealings with a client without 
complying with the requirements of the Rules of Professional Conduct. 
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Further, the properties were sold to Byrd under financing to 
the pension and profit sharing plan (secured by notes and mortgages to 
that plan from Byrd or Byrd-controlled entities).  Respondent prepared 
the closing documents in these transactions and then handled the 
closings when Byrd sold these three properties to borrowers.  Monies 
from these transactions were applied toward the notes and mortgages, 
but no mention of the monies being paid to the pension and profit 
sharing plan of respondent’s firm were made on the borrowers’ HUD-
1s. By omitting the information from the HUD-1s, the information 
given to the lender and borrowers was not entirely correct. Further, 
respondent issued title insurance policies that did not make exception to 
the mortgages, notwithstanding the fact that the mortgages were 
publicly recorded. These three transactions were the subject of the civil 
litigation against respondent and the federal indictments against the 
Byrds and others. 

In another transaction, Eric Byrd was the seller and another 
Byrd business associate was the buyer in the arrangement. 
Respondent was aware of the relationship between the seller and buyer 
and closed the transaction. Line 201 on the HUD-1 Settlement 
Statement (earnest money paid by borrowers) states that $12,000 was 
paid as earnest money by the borrower when, in fact, no such amount 
was received by respondent into his firm’s trust account and no 
notation “POC” (paid outside of closing) was made on that line.  As a 
result, the receipts and disbursements made out of respondent’s trust 
account were not consistent with the information on the HUD-1. 

In several other matters closed by respondent, James Byrd 
purchased transactions as refinancings which allowed Byrd to 
circumvent the lender’s guidelines, procedures, and policies applicable 
to purchase transactions to avoid the lender making loans on property at 
inflated amounts. In furtherance of this scheme, a Byrd-controlled land 
trust served as a straw buyer giving a note and mortgage. Respondent 
was aware that the land trust was a Byrd-related and controlled entity. 
In hindsight, respondent acknowledges the peculiarities of these 
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transactions should have served as “red flags” that improprieties were 
being committed in connection with these real estate transactions.   

Another Byrd scheme was to make fictitious notes and 
mortgages from Byrd cohorts as “borrowers” to Next Generation (an 
entity known at the time by respondent to be Byrd-controlled).  While 
respondent did not draft these notes and mortgages, in some cases they 
were drawn and recorded the day before respondent conducted the 
closings on the encumbered property sold to genuine borrowers. 
Respondent should have seen additional “red flags” when Byrd left the 
closing with a check made to the lender, especially when a known Byrd 
family member was the borrower. 

Respondent represents that all checks exchanged during 
these transactions were honored upon presentment.  ODC does not 
dispute this representation. However, it is now known that personal 
checks which were brought to closings handled by respondent in some 
of the transactions by the Byrds or their associates would only be made 
good out of the proceeds of the ultimate, inflated sales of the subject 
property. 

Toward the end of their relationship, respondent began 
having concerns about the propriety of the Byrds’ transactions.  Around 
the same time, one of the Byrds asked respondent to assist in “flip” 
transactions; respondent recognized participating in a “flip” transaction 
would constitute misconduct.  Respondent ceased closing transactions 
for the Byrds. 

Respondent has been engaged in the practice of law since 
1972. He has no prior disciplinary history.  He has fully cooperated 
with ODC’s inquiries into this matter. 

LAW 

Respondent admits that his misconduct constitutes grounds 
for discipline under Rule 413, RLDE, specifically Rule 7(a)(1) (lawyer 
shall not violate Rules of Professional Conduct or any other rules of 
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this jurisdiction regarding professional conduct of lawyers). In 
addition, respondent admits he has violated the following provisions of 
the Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 407, SCACR: Rule 1.1 
(lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client); Rule 1.7(a) 
(lawyer shall not represent client if representation involves concurrent 
conflict of interest); Rule 1.8(a) (lawyer shall not enter into business 
transaction with client or knowingly acquire a pecuniary or security 
interest adverse to a client unless certain conditions are met); Rule 
4.1(a) (in course of representing client, lawyer shall not make false 
statement of material fact to a third person); Rule 8.4(a) (it is 
professional misconduct for lawyer to violate the Rules of Professional 
Conduct); Rule 8.4(d) (it is professional misconduct for lawyer to 
engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, or misrepresentation); 
and Rule 8.4(e) (it is professional misconduct for lawyer to engage in 
conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice). 

CONCLUSION 

The misconduct reported in this opinion would normally 
warrant the imposition of a suspension from the practice of law.  
However, because respondent self-reported his misconduct to ODC, 
fully cooperated with the disciplinary investigation, and has served the 
Bar of this State for more than thirty years with no prior disciplinary 
history, we find that a public reprimand is warranted.  Accordingly, we 
accept the Agreement for Discipline by Consent and publicly 
reprimand respondent for his misconduct 

PUBLIC REPRIMAND. 

TOAL, C.J., WALLER, PLEICONES, BEATTY and 
KITTREDGE, JJ., concur. 
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

In The Supreme Court
 

Donald D. Berry, Petitioner, 

v. 

State of South Carolina, Respondent. 

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI 

Appeal From Cherokee County 

Doyet A. Early, III, Post-Conviction Relief Judge 


Opinion No. 26618 

Submitted November 19, 2008 – Filed March 23, 2009 


REVERSED AND REMANDED 

Deputy Chief Appellate Defender Wanda H. Carter, of South 
Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense, of Columbia, for 
Petitioner. 

Attorney General Henry Dargan McMaster, Chief Deputy 
Attorney General John W. McIntosh, Assistant Deputy Attorney 
General Salley W. Elliott, Assistant Attorney General S. Prentiss 
Counts, all of Columbia, for Respondent. 
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___________ 

JUSTICE KITTREDGE: We granted a writ of certiorari to review 
the denial of Donald D. Berry’s application for post-conviction relief (PCR). 
Berry pled guilty to a drug charge, second offense, and was sentenced to 
prison. The prior offense for enhancement purposes was a drug 
paraphernalia conviction. Because a drug paraphernalia conviction does not 
qualify as a prior offense for enhancement purposes under South Carolina’s 
statutory scheme and plea counsel neither informed Berry of this fact nor 
made an objection in the plea court, we reverse the denial of PCR, vacate the 
guilty plea, and remand to the general sessions court. 

I. 

Berry pled guilty to manufacturing methamphetamine, second offense, 
and was sentenced to seven years’ imprisonment.  The plea was enhanced to 
a second offense by Berry’s prior conviction for possession of drug 
paraphernalia. As part of the plea agreement, an accompanying possession 
with intent to distribute methamphetamine charge was dismissed.  The PCR 
court found Berry did not establish his entitlement to relief and denied his 
application. Berry sought a writ of certiorari, which we granted. 

Section 44-53-470 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2007) states, 
“[a]n offense is considered a second or subsequent offense if . . . the offender 
has been convicted within the previous ten years of a violation of a provision 
of this article or of another state or federal statute relating to narcotic drugs, 
marijuana, depressants, stimulants, or hallucinogenic drugs . . . .” 
Additionally, section 44-53-375(B)(2) of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 
2007) provides the following requirements for an enhanced offense: 

[F]or a second offense or if, in the case of a first conviction of a 
violation of this section, the offender has been convicted of any 
of the laws of the United States or of any state, territory, or 
district relating to narcotic drugs, marijuana, depressant, 
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stimulant, or hallucinogenic drugs, the offender must be 
imprisoned for not less than five years nor more than thirty years, 
or fined not more than fifty thousand dollars, or both. 

II. 

Whether a drug paraphernalia conviction qualifies as a prior offense for 
enhancement purposes has not been decided by this Court. The question is 
one of statutory construction. See State v. Dingle, 376 S.C. 643, 649, 659 
S.E.2d 101, 105 (2008) (“In interpreting statutes, the Court looks to the plain 
meaning of the statute and the intent of the Legislature.”).  Moreover, in 
construing a criminal statute, we are guided by the rule of lenity—the 
principle that any ambiguity must be resolved in favor of the accused.  State 
v. Blackmon, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991) (“[W]hen a 
statute is penal in nature, it must be construed strictly against the State and in 
favor of the defendant.”). We hold that the Legislature intended a prior 
offense to qualify for enhancement purposes only if the prior offense “relates 
to” one of the statutorily enumerated drugs. 

To construe a paraphernalia conviction as “relating to” drugs would be 
contrary to unambiguously expressed legislative intent and additionally 
violate the rule of lenity long established in our jurisprudence.  Moreover, 
were we to construe the phrase “relate to” so loosely as to include a 
paraphernalia conviction, there would essentially be no limitation for 
qualifying enhancement offenses. We therefore hold that a conviction for 
possession of drug paraphernalia may not be used for enhancement purposes 
as it does not “relate to” drugs as statutorily mandated. 

III. 

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

We now turn to Berry’s PCR claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. 
To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth 
Amendment, a PCR applicant must prove deficient representation and 
resulting prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). 
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Where a defendant pleads guilty upon the advice of counsel, post-
conviction relief is available only when the applicant proves the advice he 
received from counsel “fell below an objective standard of reasonableness” 
and that “but for” counsel’s deficient representation, he would not have pled 
guilty. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56-59 (1985). Plea counsel for Berry 
acknowledges he neither challenged the State’s reliance on the paraphernalia 
conviction for enhancement purposes, nor informed Berry of the potential 
challenge. 

A. Deficient Representation 

We find plea counsel’s failure to inform Berry of the potential 
challenge of the use of the paraphernalia conviction for enhancement 
purposes amounts to deficient representation. Strickland v. Washington, 466 
U.S. at 687.  In so ruling, we recognize that a defendant, for a host of 
legitimate reasons, may plead guilty to an offense for which a valid legal 
challenge may exist.  See Rollison v. State, 346 S.C. 506, 510, 552 S.E.2d 
290, 292 (2001) (“A defendant may, as part of a plea bargain, agree to plead 
guilty to a crime for which he has been indicted (or to which he has waived 
grand jury presentment), but of which he is not guilty.”); Anderson v. State, 
342 S.C. 54, 58, 535 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2000) (“We find the decision to accept 
a plea to voluntary manslaughter notwithstanding the lack of any provocation 
was simply a tactical maneuver to avoid the very real possibility that the jury 
might come back with a verdict of murder. Accordingly, we find the plea 
was knowingly and voluntarily entered.”).  The difference in such 
circumstances between a valid guilty plea and an invalid guilty plea lies in 
the knowing and voluntary nature of the plea.  Here, counsel never informed 
Berry of the potential challenge to the use of the drug paraphernalia 
conviction for enhancement. In fact, Berry’s plea counsel never gave any 
thought to the issue. 

We believe the Sixth Amendment guarantee of effective assistance of 
counsel requires that counsel accurately inform a defendant, to the extent 
possible, of the qualifying nature of a prior offense for enhancement 
purposes. It may well be that in situations unlike the one before us, the 
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answer is unclear. Yet, an accused is entitled to counsel’s considered and 
reasonable judgment.1  In fact, uncertainty concerning a potential legal 
challenge may well provide a defendant a catalyst in plea negotiations with 
the State.  In this regard, a defendant may choose to forgo a legal challenge 
and opt for what he considers a favorable plea arrangement, especially where 
other charges will be dismissed or sentences are run concurrently. 

This “give and take” lies at the heart of virtually every guilty plea, as 
plea agreements allow our overly burdened criminal courts to function.  The 
point, for purposes of the issue before us, is that such decisions must be made 
knowingly and voluntarily with the advice of constitutionally competent 
counsel. Simply saying “I never gave it a thought” falls short of the Sixth 
Amendment guarantee of effective assistance of counsel. As a result, we find 
counsel’s failure to even consider whether a paraphernalia conviction 
qualifies for enhancement, and so inform Berry, fell below the standard of 
objective reasonableness. We therefore find plea counsel provided 
constitutionally deficient representation. 

B. Prejudice 

We next turn to the second step in the analysis—whether Berry was 
prejudiced by the deficient representation. Strickland v. Washington, 466 
U.S. at 687. As this was a guilty plea, Berry “must show that there is a 
reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have 
pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.”  Hill, 474 U.S. at 
59. During the PCR hearing, Berry repeatedly said that he would have gone 
to trial had he known that his paraphernalia conviction did not qualify as a 
prior offense for enhancement purposes. Cf. Robinson v. State, Op. No. 
26564 (S.C.Sup.Ct. filed Nov. 24, 2008) (Shearouse Adv.Sh. No. 43 at 25) 
(granting post-conviction relief and remanding for resentencing where prior 
uncounseled conviction was improperly used for enhancement and applicant 

While the case at hand concerns use of prior convictions for 
enhancement purposes, this reference to an accused’s entitlement to counsel’s 
considered and reasonable judgment clearly has broad application in Sixth 
Amendment jurisprudence. 
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insisted that he wanted to plead guilty free of the “unconstitutional prior 
conviction[]”). We find Berry has established the prejudice prong of 
Strickland v. Washington, and we grant him the relief he requests. 

IV. 

We grant Berry post-conviction relief and return him to his pre-guilty 
plea position. Berry’s conviction and sentence for manufacturing 
methamphetamine are vacated. Because the accompanying indictment for 
possession with intent to distribute methamphetamine was dismissed as part 
of the plea bargain, it is restored as an active charge. We remand these 
charges to the general sessions court for disposition. 

REVERSED AND REMANDED. 

TOAL, C.J., WALLER, and BEATTY, JJ., concur. PLEICONES, 
J., not participating. 
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

In The Supreme Court
 

Robert A. Rydde and Brandon 

Konija, Appellants, 


v. 

M. Robin Morris, Respondent. 

Appeal From Horry County 
J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge 

Opinion No. 26619 

Heard February 4, 2009 – Filed March 23, 2009   


AFFIRMED 

Eric S. Bland, of Bland Richter, LLP, of Columbia, Ronald L. 
Richter, Jr., Bland Richter, LLP, of Charleston, Thomas A. 
Pendarvis, of Pendarvis Law Offices, PC, of Beaufort, for 
Appellants. 

Susan Taylor Wall, and J.W. Nelson Chandler, both of Parker, 
Poe, Adams & Bernstein, LLP, of Charleston, for Respondent. 

JUSTICE KITTREDGE: This legal malpractice action presents the 
following question: whether an attorney’s alleged negligent failure to timely 
draft a will and arrange for its execution permits prospective beneficiaries of 
the estate to maintain a cause of action for legal malpractice.  There is no 
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such claim in South Carolina, and we hold an attorney owes no duty to a 
prospective beneficiary of a nonexistent will.  In so ruling, we affirm the trial 
court’s dismissal of the action. 

I. 

Johanna W. Knight was an elderly resident of Myrtle Beach, South 
Carolina, who died on October 3, 2005, as a result of lung cancer. 
Approximately one month prior to her death, attorney M. Robin Morris was 
engaged by Knight to prepare her estate plan.  Morris provided Knight with 
an estate planning questionnaire. Knight returned the estate planning 
questionnaire to Morris on Thursday, September 22, 2005.  Appellants 
Robert A. Rydde and Brandon Konija, and others, were included as 
prospective will beneficiaries in the questionnaire completed by Knight.   

On Tuesday, September 27, 2005, Morris delivered to Knight a portion 
of the requested estate plan documents: a durable healthcare power of 
attorney and a durable financial power of attorney.  These documents were 
not executed. Knight was incapacitated on September 28, for she was on a 
respirator in the intensive care unit and was in a drug-induced sleep.  As 
noted, Knight died on October 3. 

Because a will was not prepared for execution prior to Knight’s death, 
her estate passed through intestacy. Appellants filed this legal malpractice 
action under various theories, all of which are premised on the imposition of 
a duty on Morris in favor of the non-client prospective beneficiaries.  Morris 
answered the complaint by moving to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), 
SCRCP. 

II. 

The learned trial judge determined that Appellants’ complaint failed to 
“state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.”  Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP. 
On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an 
appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. 
Williams v. Condon, 347 S.C. 227, 233, 553 S.E.2d 496, 500 (Ct. App. 2001).  
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That standard requires the Court to construe the complaint in a light most 
favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the “facts alleged and the 
inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff 
to relief on any theory of the case.” Id. at 233, 553 S.E.2d at 499. 

III. 

Appellants assert that attorney Morris owed them a duty to draft a will 
for Knight (naming Appellants as beneficiaries) between Thursday 
September 22, 2005, and the following Tuesday, September 27, which was 
the day before Knight became completely unresponsive.  Without pause, we 
reject the notion of imposing a duty on an attorney in favor of a prospective 
beneficiary for the attorney’s purported negligent failure to timely draft a 
will. 

A. 

We begin with South Carolina law. A plaintiff in a legal malpractice 
action must establish four elements: (1) the existence of an attorney-client 
relationship; (2) a breach of duty by the attorney; (3) damage to the client; 
and (4) proximate cause of the client’s damages by the breach. Smith v. 
Haynsworth, Marion, McKay & Geurard, 322 S.C. 433, 435 n.2, 472 S.E.2d 
612, 613 n.2 (1996); Ellis v. Davidson, 358 S.C. 509, 523, 595 S.E.2d 817, 
824 (Ct. App. 2004); Hall v. Fedor, 349 S.C. 169, 174, 561 S.E.2d 654, 656 
(Ct. App. 2002). “Before a claim for malpractice may be asserted, there must 
exist an attorney-client relationship.”  Am. Fed. Bank, FSB v. No. One Main 
Joint Venture, 321 S.C. 169, 174, 467 S.E.2d 439, 442 (1996); see also Pye v. 
Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 509 (2006) (“[A]n attorney 
is immune from liability to third persons arising from the performance of his 
professional activities as an attorney on behalf of and with the knowledge of 
his client.” (quoting Gaar v. N. Myrtle Beach Realty Co., Inc., 287 S.C. 525, 
528, 339 S.E.2d 887, 889 (Ct. App. 1986))).   
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B. 

Our decision today not to impose a duty on an attorney in favor of a 
prospective beneficiary for alleged negligent failure to draft a will follows the 
law in other jurisdictions. We find persuasive the reasoning of decisions 
from New Hampshire, Connecticut, and Florida.  We reference these three 
jurisdictions, for these states recognize generally that an attorney owes a duty 
to a non-client intended beneficiary of an executed will where it is shown that 
the testator’s intent has been defeated or diminished by negligence on the part 
of the attorney, resulting in loss to the beneficiary. Having relaxed the 
traditional privity requirement in legal malpractice claims, these states 
nevertheless draw the line and refuse for compelling policy reasons to permit 
a malpractice claim by a non-client for negligent failure to draft a will. 1 

The Connecticut Supreme Court was presented with this issue in 
Krawczyk v. Stingle, 543 A.2d 733 (Conn. 1988). While acknowledging its 
precedent permitting a cause of action against an attorney who failed to draft 
a will in conformity with a testator’s wishes, the Krawczyk court addressed 
“whether such liability should be further expanded to encompass negligent 
delay in completing and furnishing estate planning documents for execution 
by the client.” Id. at 735. The Connecticut Supreme Court concluded “that 
the imposition of liability to third parties for negligent delay in the execution 
of estate planning documents would not comport with a lawyer’s duty of 

While Connecticut, New Hampshire, and Florida all recognize that a 
non-client may maintain a legal malpractice claim under certain 
circumstances, these states follow different approaches.  These states, 
however, are uniform in their rejection of a claim by a non-client for alleged 
negligence for the failure to draft a will.  For an in depth analysis of the 
different approaches in the Nation, see Max. N. Pickelsimer, Comment, 
Attorney Malpractice in Will Drafting: Will South Carolina Expand Privity to 
Impose a Duty to Intended Beneficiaries of a Will?, 58 S.C. L. REV. 581, 
585-98 (2007). 
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undivided loyalty to the client.” Id. at 736. Krawczyk advanced the 
following policy rationale for its decision, with which we concur: 

A central dimension of the attorney-client relationship is 
the attorney’s duty of “[e]ntire devotion to the interest of the 
client.” This obligation would be undermined were an attorney 
to be held liable to third parties if, due to the attorney’s delay, the 
testator did not have an opportunity to execute estate planning 
documents prior to death. Imposition of liability would create an 
incentive for an attorney to exert pressure on a client to complete 
and execute estate planning documents summarily.  Fear of 
liability to potential third party beneficiaries would contravene 
the attorney’s primary responsibility to ensure that the proposed 
estate plan effectuates the client’s wishes and that the client 
understands the available options and the legal and practical 
implications of whatever course of action is ultimately chosen. 
These potential conflicts of interest are especially significant in 
the context of the final disposition of a client’s estate, where the 
testator’s testamentary capacity and the absence of undue 
influence are often central issues. 

Id. (internal citations omitted). 

In Sisson v. Jankowski, 809 A.2d 1265 (N.H. 2002), the New 
Hampshire Supreme Court answered a certified question from the United 
States District Court for the District of New Hampshire: “[w]hether . . . an 
attorney’s negligent failure to arrange for his or her client’s timely execution 
of a will . . . which failure proximately caused the client to die intestate, gives 
rise to a viable common law claim against that attorney by an intended 
beneficiary of the unexecuted will.” Id. at 1265-66. Sisson, relying on 
Krawczyk and other authorities, answered the question in the negative.  By 
focusing on “the importance of an attorney’s undivided loyalty to a client,” 
the Sisson analysis mirrors the self-evident policy considerations discussed in 
Krawczyk. 
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[W]e conclude that the risk of interfering with the attorney’s duty 
of undivided loyalty to the client exceeds the risk of harm to the 
prospective beneficiary. For these reasons, we join the majority 
of courts that have considered this issue and hold that an attorney 
does not owe a duty of care to a prospective will beneficiary to 
have the will executed promptly. 

Id. at 1270. 

We next turn to a Florida Court of Appeals case, Babcock v. Malone, 
760 So.2d 1056 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2000). Babcock and others filed a 
lawsuit alleging that their uncle’s lawyer was “negligent in failing to timely 
prepare a new will for [him]. As a result, their uncle died before executing 
the new will under which [Babcock and the others] would have inherited, and 
instead they were left nothing.”  Id. at 1056. The trial court dismissed the 
lawsuit for failure to state a cause of action. Babcock focused on the absence 
of an executed will and rejected the legal malpractice claim, noting the “risk 
of misinterpreting the testator’s intent” and the “heighten[ed] . . . tendency to 
manufacture false evidence that cannot be rebutted due to the unavailability 
of the testator.” Id. at 1057 (quoting Espinosa v. Sparber, Shevin, Shapo, 
Rosen & Heilbronner, 612 So.2d 1378, 1380 (Fla. 1993)). 

C. 

And finally, this Court’s recent recognition of a physician’s limited 
duty to third parties lends Appellants no support. In Hardee v. Bio-Medical 
Applications of S.C., Inc., 370 S.C. 511, 636 S.E.2d 629 (2006), a physician 
failed to warn a patient of the ill effects that could result from dialysis 
treatment. While driving home following the dialysis treatment, the patient 
lost control of his vehicle and collided with a vehicle in which Allene and 
Kathleen Hardee were traveling. The Hardees filed a tort action against the 
physician for failure to provide appropriate warnings to the patient. 

We reversed the trial court’s grant of summary judgment to the 
physician and noted that “a medical provider has a duty to warn [the patient] 
of the dangers associated with medical treatment.”  Id. at 516, 636 S.E.2d at 
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631. Based on the duty to warn the patient, we held that “a medical provider 
who provides treatment which it knows may have detrimental effects on a 
patient’s capacities and abilities owes a duty to prevent harm to patients and 
to reasonably foreseeable third parties by warning the patient of the attendant 
risks and effects before administering the treatment.” Id. at 516, 636 S.E.2d 
at 631-32. Appellants misapprehend the reach of Hardee. 

The central feature in Hardee’s “very narrow holding” is the 
recognition that “this duty owed to third parties is identical to the duty owed 
to the patient.” Id. at 516, 636 S.E.2d at 632. Thus, a medical provider’s 
breach of a potential duty to reasonably foreseeable third parties is 
inextricably connected to a breach of duty to the patient.  We stressed that 
“our holding does not hamper the doctor-patient relationship.”  Id. at 516, 
636 S.E.2d at 632. 

Hardee lends Appellants no aid. The imposition of a duty on an 
attorney to a prospective beneficiary of a nonexistent will would wreak havoc 
on the attorney’s ethical duty of undivided loyalty to the client and force an 
impermissible wedge in the attorney-client relationship.  The rationale and 
policy underpinnings of Hardee support our rejection of the duty Appellants 
seek to impose. 

IV. 

In sum, under the circumstances presented, we see no reason to depart 
from existing law which imposes a privity requirement as a condition to 
maintaining a legal malpractice claim in South Carolina.  We hold an 
attorney owes no duty to a prospective beneficiary of a nonexistent will.  The 
judgment of the trial court is 

AFFIRMED. 

TOAL, C.J., WALLER, PLEICONES and BEATTY, JJ., concur. 
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PER CURIAM: In this consolidated action, Mother appeals from the 
family court's order terminating her parental rights (TPR) to her daughter and 
son. On appeal, Mother argues the family court erred in: (1) finding any 
statutory ground for TPR was proven by clear and convincing evidence, (2) 
finding TPR was in her children's best interests, and (3) granting the foster 
parents' petitions to adopt Daughter and Son.  Furthermore, Mother argues 
the family court erred in denying her mistrial motion and ordering her to pay 
one-third of the fees for the guardian ad litem (GAL) and the GAL's attorney. 
We reverse and remand. 

FACTS 

Mother and Father married in 2002 and divorced two years later. They 
have three children together: Sister, now eight years old, and Daughter and 
Son, twins, who are now six years old. When Daughter was six months old, 
she was severely injured, purportedly while in Father's care.1  Although 
Mother noticed Daughter's eyes were "rolling back and forth in her head," she 
waited two days before seeking medical care.  Daughter's pediatrician 
testified he sent Daughter directly from his office to the hospital, where she 
remained for fourteen days. Physicians diagnosed Daughter's condition as 
non-accidental, subdural hematomas, i.e., "bleeding around the brain," which 
is often associated with "Shaken Baby Syndrome."  Daughter's physicians 
testified her injuries were the result of physical abuse.   

After the hospital reported Daughter's injuries to the Department of 
Social Services (DSS), law enforcement took the twins into emergency 
protective custody. Following a probable cause hearing, the family court 
granted DSS custody of Mother's three children.  A month later, the court 
conducted a removal merits hearing, and thereafter, approved a placement 
plan (plan) granting Mother supervised visitation and requiring her to 
maintain employment and pay child support.  A few months later, Mother 
and Father separated, and in December 2004, the family court granted Mother 

1 Mother testified Daughter "was fine" when she left the children with Father; 
however, when Mother returned from the grocery store, she noticed Daughter 
was "moving her arms and legs. She was sweating a lot."   
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a divorce and issued a restraining order against Father. In October 2003, six 
months after Daughter's abuse, DSS voluntarily, and without a court order, 
returned Sister to Mother's custody. On August 23, 2004, the family court 
ratified returning legal and physical custody of Daughter to Mother.  

In August 2004, the family court conducted the initial permanency 
planning hearing and noted Mother had stipulated to a finding that she 
physically abused Daughter.2  At the time of the hearing, Daughter resided in 
foster care with John and Jane Loe #1 (Loes #1), and Son resided in foster 
care with John and Jane Loe #2 (Loes #2). The children's GAL and DSS 
recommended a permanent plan of reunification of Daughter and Son with 
Mother. The family court found Mother had "substantially complied" with 
the terms of her plan by securing and maintaining employment, completing a 
parenting assessment, and consistently paying child support.  In consideration 
of Daughter's and Son's extensive medical needs, however, the court granted 
DSS's request for an extension for reunification, explaining:  

[Son] has a shunt that drains excess fluid from his 
brain and underdeveloped lungs. The shunt requires 
monitoring to ensure that it does not get clogged or 
[is] not draining properly. [Son's] breathing is 
normally rapid and shallow and requires monitoring 
for any changes or problems with breathing. If a 
problem should occur and the treatment is not 
administered in a timely manner, complications could 
result which could cause death. [Daughter] is 
developmentally delayed due to her injuries. [She] 
cannot sit upright without assistance and it takes 
approximately one hour to feed [her]. [Daughter] is 
unable to crawl on her hands and knees . . . . [She] 
currently attends occupational therapy, speech 
therapy, and physical therapy several times a week. 

2 Four years later, however, social worker Rheba Dewitt testified DSS never 
determined who had inflicted Daughter's injuries. 
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The family court conducted a second permanency planning hearing in 
April 2005 and found "it was more likely than not" Father had physically 
abused and neglected the children, and it ordered Father to have no further 
contact with his children. In contrast, regarding Mother, the court's order 
stated: "The permanency planning for reunification remains status quo." 
Furthermore, the court found it was in Daughter's and Son's best interests to 
modify Mother's plan to allow her to have weekly, unsupervised visits with 
Daughter and Son. The court authorized a six-month extension of foster care 
to give Mother more time to become involved in her children's medical care. 

A week after the family court reaffirmed the plan for reunification, 
Loes #1 and Loes #2 (collectively, the Foster Parents) filed private actions 
against Mother, Father, and Berkeley County DSS. The Foster Parents' 
complaint asked the court to terminate Mother's and Father's parental rights, 
require DSS to prepare investigative reports necessary for adoption, issue a 
decree of adoption, and change the children's legal names. Nevertheless, 
DSS continued to move forward with its plan to reunite Mother with her 
children; a few weeks later, Daughter and Son began weekly, unsupervised, 
overnight visits with Mother and Sister.  The overnight visits were suspended 
three months later, after Mother requested a meeting with DSS and stated she 
was overwhelmed by the demands of caring for Sister, as well as Daughter 
and Son, who were then age two. Thereafter, DSS modified Mother's 
visitation to Thursdays, from 10:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.  Weekend, overnight 
visits resumed in July 2006, and thereafter, continued without interruption.   

When the family court conducted a third permanency planning hearing 
in March 2006, Daughter and Son had resided in foster care for three years. 
Once again, the family court found Mother had completed her modified plan, 
consistently visited her children, and paid child support; nevertheless, the 
court expressed concern that overnight visitation had been unsuccessful. 
Noting DSS had "assessed the viability of adoption" and was now 
recommending "a concurrent plan" of reunification within six months or TPR 
and adoption, the court ordered DSS to continue providing services to Mother 
while it pursued both options. In October 2006, Mother submitted an 
affidavit to the court stating she had done everything DSS had asked of her. 
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Mother's affidavit stated she was grateful for the care the Foster Parents had 
provided for her children, and she asked the court to allow her children "to 
come home." Daughter and Son remained in foster care. 

In January 2007, Mother filed an answer and counterclaim in response 
to the Foster Parents' complaint.  Mother's pleadings stated custody of 
Daughter and Son should be returned to her because she had completed the 
terms of her DSS plans; moreover, Mother noted that since October 2003, 
DSS had found her home to be appropriate for Sister. Mother informed the 
court she had qualified for legal aid services, and she asked the court to hold 
the Foster Parents responsible for all fees associated with bringing their 
action, including the fees for the GAL and the GAL's attorney.  

The family court consolidated the Foster Parents' actions and conducted 
a hearing in January and February 2007, that included six days of testimony 
on behalf of Mother and the Foster Parents.  Ultimately, the family court 
terminated Mother's and Father's parental rights, granted the petition of Loes 
#1 to adopt Daughter, granted the petition of Loes #2 to adopt Son, ordered 
Mother to have no further contact with Daughter and Son, granted the Foster 
Parents' request to change the children's names, ordered revision of the birth 
certificates, denied Mother's mistrial motion, and ordered Mother to pay fees 
of approximately $10,000. Mother's appeal followed.3 

ISSUES 

1. Did the family court err in terminating Mother's parental rights?  

2. Did the family court abuse its discretion in ordering Mother to pay one-
third of the fees for the GAL and the GAL's attorney? 

3 The family court also terminated the parental rights of Father, who did not 
attend the TPR hearing and was found in default. See S.C. Code Ann. § 63-
7-2590(B) (Supp. 2008) ("The relationship between a parent and child may 
be terminated with respect to one parent without affecting the relationship 
between the child and the other parent."). 
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3. Did the family court err in denying Mother's motion for a mistrial? 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In appeals from the family court: 

[T]his court has authority to find the facts in 
accordance with our own view of the preponderance 
of the evidence. However, this broad scope of review 
does not require us to disregard the findings of the 
family court. We are mindful that the family court, 
which saw and heard the witnesses, was in a better 
position to evaluate their credibility and assign 
comparative weight to their testimony. 

Pirri v. Pirri, 369 S.C. 258, 264, 631 S.E.2d 279, 282-83 (Ct. App. 2006) 
(internal citations omitted). 

LAW/ANALYSIS 

I. Termination of Parental Rights 

Mother contends the family court erred in terminating her parental 
rights to Daughter and Son. We agree. 

A. Fundamental Rights of Parents 

The South Carolina Children's Code sets forth this State's policy 
regarding reunification: "It is the policy of this State to reunite the child with 
his family in a timely manner, whether or not the child has been placed in the 
care of the State voluntarily." S.C. Code Ann. § 63-1-20(D) (Supp. 2008). 
Moreover, the Children's Code "shall be liberally construed to the end that 
families whose unity or well-being is threatened shall be assisted and 
protected, and restored if possible as secure units of law-abiding members . . . 
." S.C. Code Ann. § 63-1-30 (Supp. 2008). 
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The United States Supreme Court has declared: "[I]t cannot now be 
doubted that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects 
the fundamental right of parents to make decisions concerning the care, 
custody, and control of their children." Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 66 
(2000). In respect for this fundamental right, our own supreme court 
instructs courts to proceed with thoughtful deliberation when deciding 
whether to terminate a parent's rights: 

The termination of the legal relationship 
between natural parents and a child presents one [of] 
the most difficult issues this Court is called upon to 
decide. We exercise great caution in reviewing 
termination proceedings and will conclude 
termination is proper only when the evidence clearly 
and convincingly mandates such a result. 

. . . Parental rights warrant vigilant protection 
under the law and due process mandates a 
fundamentally fair procedure when the state seeks to 
terminate the parent-child relationship. 

S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Cochran, 364 S.C. 621, 626, 614 S.E.2d 642, 645 
(2005). Moreover, the Cochran court provided specific guidance as to when 
courts can consider TPR: "The fundamental purpose of terminating parental 
rights is to provide the greatest possible protection to a child whose parents 
are unwilling or unable to provide adequate care for the physical, emotional, 
and mental needs of the child." Id. at 632, 614 S.E.2d at 648.  

Citing the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution 
and the United States Supreme Court's decision in Santosky v. Kramer, this 
court declared: 

Under the United States Constitution, natural parents 
are entitled to fundamentally fair procedures when 
the State seeks to sever the relationship they have 
with their child. In Santosky, the United States 
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Supreme Court announced: "The fundamental liberty 
interest of natural parents in the care, custody, and 
management of their child does not evaporate simply 
because they have not been model parents or have 
lost temporary custody of their child to the State. 
Even when blood relationships are strained, parents 
retain a vital interest in preventing the irretrievable 
destruction of their family life . . . . When the State 
moves to destroy weakened familial bonds, it must 
provide the parents with fundamentally fair 
procedures." 

Charleston County Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Jackson, 368 S.C. 87, 96, 627 
S.E.2d 765, 770 (Ct. App. 2006) (quoting Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 
753 (1982)) (internal citations omitted).   

B. Statutory Grounds for TPR 

In South Carolina, TPR is governed by statute, and the family court can 
order TPR only upon finding one or more of eleven statutory grounds exist 
and also finding TPR is in the child's best interest.  S.C. Code Ann. § 63-7-
2570 (Supp. 2008). "Before terminating parental rights, the alleged grounds 
for termination must be proven by clear and convincing evidence.  On appeal, 
this Court may review the record and make its own determination of whether 
the termination grounds are supported by clear and convincing evidence." 
S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Mother ex rel. Minor Child, 375 S.C. 276, 282-
83, 651 S.E.2d 622, 625 (Ct. App. 2007) (internal citations omitted). 

Clear and convincing evidence is that degree of proof 
which will produce in the mind of the trier of facts a 
firm belief as to the allegations sought to be 
established. Such measure of proof is intermediate, 
more than a mere preponderance but less than is 
required for proof beyond a reasonable doubt; it does 
not mean clear and unequivocal. 
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Anonymous (M-156-90) v. State Bd. of Med. Examiners, 329 S.C. 371, 375, 
496 S.E.2d 17, 18 (1998) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). 

The family court found Mother satisfied the following statutory 
grounds for TPR: (1) Daughter had been harmed, and it was unlikely Mother 
could make the home safe within twelve months, pursuant to section 63-7-
2570(1); (2) Mother had not remedied the conditions that caused the removal 
of her children, pursuant to section 63-7-2570(2); (3) Mother has a 
diagnosable condition that is unlikely to change within a reasonable time, and 
this condition makes it unlikely she can provide minimally acceptable care 
for her children, pursuant to section 63-7-2570(6); and (4) Mother's children 
have been in foster care for fifteen of the most recent twenty-two months, 
pursuant to section 63-7-2570(8). 

Initially, we note that while a judicial decision to terminate parental 
rights is always difficult, the unique posture of this case gives us reason to 
exercise extreme caution. Typically, in a TPR case before this court, DSS 
initiates the TPR action because it has deemed a parent to be "unfit" or 
unwilling to raise a child that has been placed in the state's custody.  This 
case is procedurally unique—DSS has aligned itself with Mother in opposing 
termination of her parental rights. Furthermore, DSS argued persuasively to 
the family court that Daughter's and Son's best interests would be served by 
reuniting them with Mother and Sister. 

We commend the Foster Parents for providing exceptional care to these 
medically fragile children throughout the four years that preceded the TPR 
hearing. We recognize Daughter and Son are thriving, in large part, because 
the Foster Parents consistently provided them with love and attentive care.   

At the outset of our analysis, we point out that six days of testimony 
produced a dense, factually-intensive, and complex record.  While the family 
court's order expressed great concern that Mother had not accompanied the 
Foster Parents on many of the children's medical appointments, we note 
Mother was consistently working two jobs to pay child support, yet still 
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managed to join her children for many of their medical visits.  The children's 
pediatrician testified Mother had met with him recently to discuss her 
children's medical conditions and acknowledged Mother demonstrated 
concern for her children. 

Six months after Mother's three children were placed in foster care, 
DSS returned Sister to Mother's physical custody.  Mother contends DSS 
would not have returned her three-year-old child if her home was unsafe.  We 
agree. 

At the first permanency planning hearing, conducted in August 2004, 
the court found Mother had "substantially complied" with the requirements of 
her placement plan. Thereafter, the court granted DSS's request to extend 
foster care, not because of Mother's shortcomings, but because Daughter's 
and Son's extensive medical needs were best met by continuing their 
temporary placement in therapeutic foster care. 

At the TPR hearing, the principal of Sister's school testified: "[Mother] 
is a very involved parent. She's out in our school.  If we need her, we call her 
and she will come." The principal reported Sister does well in school, is 
well-groomed, and has good manners. Furthermore, she stated the school 
coordinates speech therapy, occupational therapy, physical therapy, and 
transportation services for children who require these services.   

Dr. Judith Hurt, a parenting coordinator, testified she had known 
Mother for six years and had observed Mother's interaction with her three 
children: 

I saw her work with the children, playing games and 
also doing some cognitive activities, reading with 
them and doing . . . puzzles. . . .  She knew that 
children had a very short time period of attention. 
She handled the misbehavior very well. There was 
never any screaming, any hollering. She knew how 
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to use what we call "quiet time," just take them away 
from the activity. 

Hurt testified she sent several letters to DSS asking them to give Mother "the 
opportunity to demonstrate to DSS that she is capable of being an effective 
mother." Hurt added that Mother lives with her mother, who is willing to 
help care for the children. 

Since April 2005, Daughter and Son have had regular, unsupervised 
visits with Mother and Sister. In July 2006, these visits were extended to 
include weekends, from 4:00 p.m. on Friday to 2:00 p.m. on Sunday, and 
Thursday afternoons. We agree with Mother that DSS would not have 
continued Daughter's and Son's unsupervised visits with her for two years if 
Mother's home was unsafe or DSS had concerns about a repetition of the 
abuse Daughter had suffered four years earlier. Moreover, Mother contends 
Father caused Daughter's injuries, and Mother remedied the situation that led 
to her children's removal by divorcing Father in December 2004.   

Medical University of South Carolina social worker Marcella Hamilton 
testified she began working with Mother shortly after her children were 
placed in foster care. Hamilton testified Mother had "some depressive 
symptoms" caused by environmental factors and stated an anti-depressant 
medication was prescribed for "a small period of time."  When she was asked 
why Mother was depressed, Hamilton explained: 

Because [Mother] was young, I think she was 21 at 
the time. She had three small children.  Her children 
had been taken away, the two babies had special 
needs. [Father] was no longer in the picture.  She 
was doing everything she needed to do in terms of 
getting her children back. She was doing all the 
work. I believe that's enough to make anyone 
depressed when you have all of those circumstances 
on you at one time. 
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Licensed clinical psychologist Jack Booth conducted parenting 
assessments of Mother in 2004 and 2006. Booth testified: "[I] felt much 
more comfortable that in the second interview [Mother] would certainly 
protect the children. She didn't want [Father] near them."  Furthermore, 
when Booth was asked if Mother was ready to be reunited with her children, 
he responded: "I think if she has the capacity to learn, then she has the 
capacity to be taught; and the answer is yes."  

In March 2006, Stephen James was appointed as the children's GAL in 
the underlying DSS action. James testified he had visited Mother's home and 
observed "the children were fine with [Mother]."  James testified he had "no 
doubt" Mother is concerned about her children and loves them. 

In May 2006, Sally Dey was appointed as the children's GAL in the 
Foster Parents' private action. Dey testified she visited Mother's home twice 
and also talked with her on the telephone.  Dey visited Mother's home in July 
2006, and her report stated: "At the time of my visit, [Mother] was having 
visitation with the twins. The home was clean and neat and there was 
adequate space for the children. The children appeared to be happy[,] and I 
did not see anything that would cause me concern for their safety."  Yet, at 
the TPR hearing, Dey recommended TPR and adoption because "[t]hese 
foster parents have done an extraordinary job with these children." 

The record establishes the Foster Parents have done an exceptional job 
caring for their foster children. However, the evidence also indicates 
Mother's home is now safe. Mother remedied the conditions that led to her 
children's removal by divorcing Father and completing two DSS placement 
plans. The evidence failed to show Mother has a diagnosable condition that 
would make it unlikely she could provide "minimally acceptable care" for 
Daughter and Son. Moreover, we find Mother consistently paid child 
support, consistently visited her children, and communicated regularly with 
the children's medical caregivers.  Accordingly, in our view, the record 
before us does not establish by clear and convincing evidence that Mother: 
(1) could not make her home safe within twelve months, (2) failed to remedy 
the conditions that caused her children's removal, or (3) has a diagnosable 
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condition that is unlikely to change and makes it unlikely she can provide 
minimally acceptable care for her children. 

The family court also found Mother met a fourth statutory ground for 
TPR, i.e., Daughter and Son had resided in foster care for fifteen of the most 
recent twenty-two months. This fact is indisputable.  Mother correctly points 
out, however, DSS requested the extensions of foster care after Mother had 
fulfilled the court's requirements for her children's return. As a result, Mother 
contends the actions of others raised barriers and caused delays that resulted 
in her children remaining in foster care beyond the statutory time required to 
trigger this ground for TPR. We agree. 

Many states have a statutorily mandated "improvement" period during 
which a parent must demonstrate consistent efforts and progress in meeting 
the requirements the court has specified for reunification. In South Carolina, 
when a child has resided in foster care for fifteen of the most recent twenty-
two months, this ground alone is sufficient to satisfy a statutory ground for 
TPR. See Jackson, 368 S.C. at 101, 627 S.E.2d at 773; S.C. Dep't of Soc. 
Servs. v. Sims, 359 S.C. 601, 608, 598 S.E.2d 303, 307 (Ct. App. 2004).  In 
Jackson, we also recognized: "[T]he child and his parents share a vital 
interest in preventing erroneous termination of their natural relationship until 
the State proves parental unfitness." 368 S.C. at 96, 627 S.E.2d at 770 
(quoting Santosky, 455 U.S. at 761) (internal quotation marks omitted).   

In this case, DSS testified it caused the delays in reunifying Mother and 
her children. DSS foster care supervisor Katina Ferguson testified Mother 
successfully completed two DSS plans. When Ferguson was asked if there 
was any reason Daughter and Son could not be reunited with Mother, 
Ferguson responded in the negative. Moreover, Ferguson testified DSS 
caused significant delays in Mother's case: 

[Mother's] visitation with her children was supposed 
to be increased to a point where the children would 
be spending more time with [her] than in foster care. 
That way we would be able to assess her ability to 
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care for the children; however, our efforts at doing 
that have been dual. There have been barriers that 
have been put up to not allow that to happen. 

DSS supervisor Barbara Parrott testified she first became aware of the 
possibility of TPR in October 2005. Parrott stated the only ground DSS had 
for TPR was fifteen of twenty-two months, and "we determined it was really 
not [Mother's] fault for that ground, and I did not take the case into the [TPR] 
unit." Parrott testified DSS staff told her Mother had remedied the conditions 
that led to her children's removal. Furthermore, she testified the DSS 
Adoptions Unit had declined Mother's case because "there was not sufficient 
evidence for grounds of [TPR]." Parrott testified it was understandable that 
Mother could not attend all of the children's appointments because of her 
work schedule; however, she stated if the children were returned, Mother 
"would have control over setting those appointments, which she does not 
[have] at this time."  Moreover, several of the children's providers testified 
they are willing to schedule appointments that do not conflict with Mother's 
work schedule. 

When asked why this case had been allowed to continue so long, 
Parrott responded: 

From my review of the file, it seemed like there were 
times when communication wasn't as it should have 
been. Staffings, one recommendation would be made 
and then something else would be put on the table. 
The treatment plan was changed a few times, and we 
didn't get back into court like we should have. 

Parrott was forthright in acknowledging DSS probably "dropped the ball," 
and she stated: "[I]t is not [Mother's] fault." Parrott agreed the Foster Parents 
would provide a loving and suitable home for Daughter and Son, then she 
added: "But I feel like [Mother] will also."  When asked why DSS had not 
filed a TPR action, Parrott responded: "[B]ecause our plan was reunification, 
and [Mother] had complied with all of the treatment plan." 
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DSS counsel Paul White asked the family court to deny the Foster 
Parents' request for TPR, stating:  

DSS dropped the ball. And that really is not 
something [Mother] had any control over. DSS does 
have its shortcomings and we are working on trying 
to overcome those shortcomings, but the fact remains 
that a good many of the delays in this case have been 
departmental and not because of anything [Mother] 
did. So while it is true that the children have been in 
foster care 15 of the last 22 months . . . that can't all 
be ascribed to [Mother]. 

Because we have a duty to protect Mother's fundamental right to raise 
her children and entitlement to fair procedures, and because DSS admitted it 
caused the delays that allowed two of Mother's children to remain in foster 
care for fifteen of the most recent twenty-two months, we find clear and 
convincing evidence did not establish Mother satisfied this statutory ground 
for TPR.4 

The eleven statutory grounds serve as a safety net that protects a fit and 
willing parent's fundamental right to raise his or her child.  Even if the Foster 
Parents are perhaps better situated than Mother to offer advantages to 
Daughter and Son, we believe the fundamental right of a fit parent to raise his 
or her child must be vigorously protected.  Because no statutory ground 
supports termination of Mother's parental rights to Daughter or Son, we need 

4 We also find support for our decision in this case from this language from a 
concurring opinion by Justice Pleicones: "I am not willing to sever the 
parent-child relationship solely on the basis that the child has spent fifteen of 
twenty-two months in foster care where the appellant presented 
substantial evidence that much of the delay in the processing of this case 
is attributable to the acts of others." Cochran, 356 S.C. at 420, 589 S.E.2d 
at 756 (Pleicones, J. concurring) (emphasis added). 
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not consider whether terminating Mother's rights would be in her children's 
best interests. Accordingly, we reverse the family court's order terminating 
Mother's parental rights to Daughter and Son, return their legal and physical 
custody to Berkeley County DSS, and remand for a determination of whether 
the children can be safely returned to Mother's home. 

II. Guardian ad Litem Fees 

 Next, Mother argues it "seems unfair" to require her to pay almost 
$10,000 in fees to defend an action brought by the Foster Parents because she 
earns a minimal income working two jobs, and she is "unable to pay her own 
attorney's fees." We agree. 

Appointment of a GAL in a private action is controlled by the South 
Carolina Private Guardian Ad Litem Reform Act, which became effective 
January 15, 2003, and states: 

(A) In a private action before the family court in 
which custody or visitation of a minor child is an 
issue, the court may appoint a guardian ad litem only 
when it determines that: 

(1) without a guardian ad litem, the court will 
likely not be fully informed about the facts of 
the case and there is a substantial dispute which 
necessitates a guardian ad litem; or  

(2) both parties consent to the appointment of a 
guardian ad litem who is approved by the court. 

§ 63-3-810 (Supp. 2008). Furthermore, the Reform Act authorizes the family 
court to appoint an attorney to represent a non-attorney GAL.  See § 63-3-
820(E) (Supp. 2008). When the family court determines appointment of an 
attorney to represent the GAL is necessary, it must "set forth the reasons for 
the appointment and must establish a method for compensating the attorney." 
Id. 
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At the time of appointment of a [GAL], the family 
court judge must set forth the method and rate of 
compensation for the [GAL], including an initial 
authorization of a fee based on the facts of the case. 
If the [GAL] determines that it is necessary to 
exceed the fee initially authorized by the judge, 
the guardian must provide notice to both parties 
and obtain the judge's written authorization or 
the consent of both parties to charge more than 
the initially authorized fee. 

§ 63-3-850(A) (Supp. 2008) (emphasis added).  The statute provides the GAL 
is entitled to "reasonable compensation subject to the review and approval of 
the court."  § 63-3-850(B). Moreover, in determining the reasonableness of 
GAL fees and costs, "the court must take into account" the following factors: 

(1) the complexity of the issues before the court; 
(2) the contentiousness of the litigation;  
(3) the time expended by the guardian; 
(4) the expenses reasonably incurred by the guardian; 
(5) the financial ability of each party to pay fees and 
costs; and 
(6) any other factors the court considers necessary. 

§ 63-3-850(B) (Supp. 2008). 

As the TPR hearing reached an end, Mother's counsel stated: 

[W]e would also ask that all [GAL] fees and attorney 
for the [GAL] fees be paid by [the Foster Parents]. 
There is uncontroverted testimony that [the Foster 
Parents'] income is sufficient to pay the cost and fees 
of this matter.   

64
 



Mother earns $1,440 per month and has documented expenses of 
$1,118 per month. As a legal aid client, Mother's income is under 125% of 
the poverty level. Moreover, the Foster Parents brought the action and paid 
the GAL's retainer fee of $2,000. 

"An award of GAL fees lies within the sound discretion of the family 
court judge and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that 
discretion." Nasser-Moghaddassi v. Moghaddassi, 364 S.C. 182, 196, 612 
S.E.2d 707, 714 (Ct. App. 2005). The record indicates the family court 
awarded the GAL, who was involved in this case from May 2006 to March 
2007, fees and costs of $13,712, and it awarded the GAL's attorney, who was 
involved in the case from January 2007 to March 2007, fees and costs of 
$15,248. 

In reviewing the reasonableness of these fees, the family court erred in 
applying the factors indicated in Glasscock v. Glasscock, 304 S.C. 158, 403 
S.E.2d 313 (1991), rather than the factors mandated by the statute. 
Furthermore, the statute states an attorney-GAL is not authorized to have 
counsel appointed. We do not address whether the GAL fees were properly 
approved pursuant to section 63-3-850 or whether the fees are reasonable. 
Instead, we remand for a determination of whether the statutory requirements 
were met in authorizing fees for the GAL and the GAL's attorney and a 
determination of reasonableness, pursuant to the factors specified in section 
63-3-850(B). 

In light of our ruling as to TPR, we additionally instruct Mother is not 
responsible for paying the fees of either the GAL or the GAL's attorney; 
instead, the family court must allocate the fees it finds to be reasonable 
among the Foster Parents and DSS. See Camburn v. Smith, 355 S.C. 574, 
581, 586 S.E.2d 565, 568 (2003) ("[W]here guardian ad litem fees are 
incurred in an action that is found meritless on appeal, the party instigating 
the action should pay."); S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Tharp, 312 S.C. 243, 
245, 439 S.E.2d 854, 856 (1994) (finding DSS liable for a reasonable GAL 
fee and remanding for a hearing de novo and development of a full record). 
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CONCLUSION5 

We find the clear and convincing evidence does not support a statutory 
ground for termination of Mother's parental rights to Daughter and Son. 
Accordingly, we reverse the judgment of the family court in terminating 
Mother's parental rights and in granting the Foster Parents' petitions to adopt 
their foster children; we return legal and physical custody of Daughter and 
Son to Berkeley County DSS; and we remand the case to the family court for 
(1) a review of the GAL's and the GAL's attorney's fees and a determination 
of responsibility for payment of these fees and (2) a hearing on appropriate 
temporary and permanent custody of Daughter and Son.6 

The order of the family court is 

REVERSED AND REMANDED. 

HEARN, C.J., SHORT and KONDUROS, JJ., concur. 

5 Mother additionally argued the family court erred in denying her mistrial 
motion. Because our determination of the prior issues is dispositive, we need 
not review this issue. See Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 
335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999) (stating an appellate court 
need not review remaining issues when its determination of a prior issue is 
dispositive of the appeal). 

6 We note Berkeley County DSS and Mother, whose parental rights have 
been reestablished, are the parties to the family court's hearing regarding a 
new permanency plan for Daughter and Son. 
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